WORKING PAPER / 2015.02



Lara **Cockx** Nathalie **Francken**

Working Papers are published under the responsibility of the IOB Research Lines, without external review process. This paper has been vetted by Nadia Molenaers, coordinator of the Research Line Conditional Finance for Development.

Comments on this Working Paper are invited.
Please contact the author at nathalie.francken@uantwerpen.be.

Instituut voor Ontwikkelingsbeleid en -Beheer Institute of Development Policy and Management Institut de Politique et de Gestion du Développement Instituto de Política y Gestión del Desarrollo

Postal address: Visiting address:
Prinsstraat 13 Lange Sint-Annastraat 7
B-2000 Antwerpen B-2000 Antwerpen
Belgium Belgium

Tel: +32 (0)3 265 57 70 Fax: +32 (0)3 265 57 71 e-mail: iob@uantwerp.be http://www.uantwerp.be/iob

WORKING PAPER / 2015.02

ISSN 2294-8643

Is there a Natural Resource Curse on Education Spending?

Lara Cockx*

Nathalie Francken**

March 2015

- * LICOS Centre for Institutions and Economic Performance, University of Leuven.
- ** IOB Institute of Development Policy and Management, University of Antwerp.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABST	RACT	5
1.	Introduction	6
2.	THE NATURAL RESOURCE CURSE: REVISITING THE LITERATURE	8
3.	ESTIMATION STRATEGY AND DATA	10
3.1.	PUBLIC EDUCATION EXPENDITURES	10
3.2.	THE DETERMINANTS OF PUBLIC EDUCATION SPENDING	10
3.2.1.	NATURAL RESOURCES	10
3.2.2.	INCOME	14
3.2.3.	AID	14
3.2.4.	AGE DISTRIBUTION	14
4.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	16
4.1.	THE IMPACT OF NATURAL RESOURCE DEPENDENCE ON PUBLIC EDUCATION	
	EXPENDITURES	16
4.2.	ROBUSTNESS CHECKS	19
5.	EXTENSION: POINT SOURCE AND DIFFUSE NATURAL RESOURCES	20
6.	CONCLUSION	22
7.	Sources	23
APPE	NDIX A : ADDITIONAL REGRESSION RESULTS	30
Арре	NDIX B : LIST OF COUNTRIES	34



ABSTRACT

This paper contributes to a new line of research in the resource curse literature that addresses the link between resource wealth and fiscal policy by empirically investigating the relationship between natural resource dependence and public education spending. Using a large panel dataset of world countries covering the period from 1995 to 2009, we find robust evidence of a public education spending resource curse. The adverse effect of natural resource dependence on public education expenditures relative to GDP remains significant after controlling for additional covariates such as income, aid, and the age structure of the population. Our results further confirm the existence of indirect effects of resource dependence through a deterioration of government accountability and the crowding-out of more skilled-labour intensive sectors in the economy. Furthermore, our findings indicate that the resource curse effect on the government prioritization of education mainly stems from point-source natural resources. Our results have important implications for managing natural resource wealth in developing countries, as they could achieve particularly high returns by investing resource revenues in public goods such as education. While this paper underlines the importance of institutions and government accountability, our results also raise questions on the role of the extractives industry. The oil, gas and mining industry should consider increasing funding for education through Corporate Social Responsibility initiatives in this sector or through other innovative channels of development finance.



1. INTRODUCTION

While in theory natural resource wealth provides a valuable source of revenues that could spur economic development, a large and buoyant literature documents the puzzling paradox that resource-rich countries seem to experience slower growth than their resource-poor counterparts. The debate on the existence of this so called "resource curse" effect on economic growth however, remains far from settled.

Moreover, in light of the global commodity price boom, there has been a rising interest in innovative ways to convert natural resource wealth into human development. It has been noted that a large number of resource-rich countries appear to have human development indicators far below the levels that would be predicted on the basis of their income. The 2013 Africa Progress Panel for example finds that most resource-rich countries in Africa have high levels of adult illiteracy and low levels of enrolment and school completion. These findings give rise to the idea that the resource curse extends beyond its hypothesized adverse impact on economic growth. In order to enable the population in resource-rich countries to benefit from their vast natural resource endowments, understanding the intricate dynamics of the resource curse from a broader point of view is of the utmost importance.

This paper will contribute to the literature by providing additional insights into the impact of natural resource wealth on government prioritization of human capital building. We focus on education as there is an increasing consensus on the importance of human capital formation for securing sustainable economic growth. Mankiw et al. (1992) for example show that augmenting the Solow model with human capital accumulation generates much better results. Education in turn, is a crucial determinant of human capital and therefore an important driver of economic growth. Both the quantity and quality of education have been found to boost economic growth (Barro, 2001; Barro and Lee, 1994; Cohen and Soto, 2007; Hanushek and Woessmann, 2007; Seetanah, 2009). Moreover, it has been argued that education allows for growth with equity (Tanzi and Chu, 1998) and that there are clear linkages between education and the reduction of poverty and inequality (Abdullah et al., 2013; Gregorio and Lee, 2002). Education has also been found to impact health outcomes and healthy behavior (Conti et al., 2010). Finally, Bravo-Ortega and De Gregorio (2005) find that high levels of human capital, measured as the average years of schooling among the over-25 population, have allowed some resource-rich countries to escape the resource curse.

By zooming into the effect of natural resource wealth on government expenditures, rather than overarching development outcomes, we avoid capturing factors that are beyond policy makers' control and are able to directly measure to what extent governments in resource-rich countries are committed to building human capital. Furthermore, several studies have found encouraging results with regards to the effectiveness of government spending on education. Using data from a sample of developing and transition countries, Gupta et al. (2002) find that increasing government education expenditures by one percentage point of GDP on average raises gross secondary enrolment rates by over three per cent. Baldacci et al. (2003) present evidence from a similar sample that suggests that raising education spending by 1 percentage point of GDP would increase enrollment rates by 6 percentage points in the current period and another 3 percentage points in the following period. The authors further note that increased education expenditures are associated with improved health status. Jung and Thorbecke (2003) confirm the growth-promoting benefits of public education expenditure and highlight its effectiveness in alleviating poverty. Blankenau et al. (2007) and Bose et al. (2007) conclude that education expenditures are



significantly associated with growth, contrary to other government outlays. Baldacci et al. (2008) find that education spending positively affects education capital which in turn contributes to economic growth. The results are replicated by Beraldo et al. (2009) who additionally find that the impact of public education expenditure is in fact larger compared to private spending.

Using a large panel dataset of 140 countries covering the period from 1995 to 2009, we find that natural resource dependence is associated with lower public education expenditures relative to GDP. This resource curse effect remains significant even after controlling for several additional factors that have been found to play an important role in explaining public education spending patterns. The results in our paper further demonstrate that this specific resource curse effect differs according to the type of natural resources. In particular, the dependence on point-source natural resources, with concentrated production and revenue patterns, rather than diffuse natural resources impedes government investment in education.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows; the resource curse literature is discussed in Section 2. We describe the estimation strategy and data in Section 3. The fourth section presents empirical evidence on the relationship between natural resource dependence and public education spending. Finally, Section 5 extends the paper by zooming into the difference between point-source and diffuse natural resources and Section 6 concludes.



2. THE NATURAL RESOURCE CURSE: REVISITING THE LITERATURE

The link between natural resource endowments and economic growth was first investigated in light of the contrasting growth experiences of several East Asian countries compared to much of Latin America and Sub-Saharan Africa. Auty (1993) introduced the phrase "resource curse" to refer to the paradox that natural resource wealth appears to generate poor economic growth rather than prosperity. This hypothesis was confirmed empirically by Sachs and Warner (1995; 1997; 2001), who show a significant and robust inverse relationship between the share of natural resource exports in GDP and economic growth. Their results have been replicated by Davis (2013) and elaborated by numerous other scholars. Auty (2001) for example finds that per capita income grows slower in countries with abundant natural resources. Bravo-Ortega and De Gregorio (2005) conclude that natural resources have a positive effect on income, but a negative effect on its growth rate. Papyrakis and Gerlagh (2004) distinguish between the direct and indirect effects of natural resource abundance. They find that while the former are positive, they are outweighed by the indirect negative effects. Arezki and Van der Ploeg (2007) on the contrary conclude that both direct and indirect effects of natural resource dependence on growth are negative. Collier and Goderis (2007) also report strong evidence of a resource curse on growth. The authors further disentangle the dynamics of the curse and find that while positive in the short run, the long term effects of commodity price booms are negative.

Commonly proposed explanations of this resource curse effect include the Dutch Disease (Van Wijnbergen, 1984; Sachs and Warner, 1995; 1997) and volatility in general (van der Ploeg and Poelhekke, 2009). Collier and Hoeffler (2003) and Ross (2006) further argue that the availability of natural resources makes states more vulnerable to conflict. This association is however, disputed by several other scholars (Basedau and Lay, 2009; Brunnschweiler and Bulte, 2009; Cotet and Tsui, 2013).

A large wave of literature has focused on the political and institutional foundations of the resource curse. Leite and Weidmann (1999) and several other scholars (Bhattacharyya and Hodler, 2010; Robinson, 2006; Torvik, 2002;) demonstrate the interrelationships between natural resources, rent-seeking and economic growth. Bulte et al. (2005) find evidence that suggests an important indirect effect of natural resources on human welfare that operates through the quality of institutions. Mehlum et al. (2006) show that the quality of institutions determines whether countries avoid the resource curse or not. Collier and Goderis (2007) similarly report that only badly governed countries suffer from the resource curse after a commodity price boom. Kolstad and Wiig (2009) state that impartiality enhancing institutions¹ in particular mitigate the negative effects of natural resources. As there is large variation between resource-rich countries, several scholars have favoured this type of conditional versions of the resource curse (Dunning, 2005). Sala-i-Martin and Subramanian (2003) and Isham et al. (2005) argue that only countries dependent on point-source natural resources suffer from the resource curse. Hodler (2006), Baggio and Papyrakis (2010) and Fum and Hodler (2010) state that the effect of natural resources is conditional upon ethnic fractionalization. Arezki and van der Ploeg (2007) find that the resource curse effect is less severe in countries that are relatively open. Andersen and Aslaksen (2008) demonstrate that the effect of natural resources is conditional upon electoral rule.

While the bulk of the literature continues to focus on the implications of vast natural resource endowments on economic growth or other measures of economic performance, a

^[1] Impartiality enhancing institutions are defined as "institutions that reduce the possibility or attraction of favouritism versus acting in the general public interest" (Kolstad and Wiig, 2009).

new line of research is investigating the resource curse from a broader point of view. Bulte et al. (2005) find that "the resource curse appears to spill over from economic growth to a broader set of development indicators". Several authors have established an important association between natural resource wealth and income inequality (Carmignani, 2013; Goderis and Malone, 2011; Gylfason and Zoega, 2002; Fum and Hodler, 2010). The relationship between natural capital and human capital accumulation has received particular interest as well. Gylfason et al. (1999) and Gylfason (2001) demonstrate that school enrolment tends to be inversely related to the share of natural capital in total national wealth. Kronenberg (2004) shows that this relationship holds for a sample of transition countries as well. Stijns (2006) similarly reports negative correlations for several indicators of natural resource abundance and human capital accumulation. Behbudi et al. (2010) demonstrate a negative relationship between natural resource abundance and secondary school attainment and adult and youth literacy rates. Cabrales and Hauk (2011) present empirical evidence that suggests that the effect of natural capital on enrolment is conditional upon the quality of political institutions. Blanco and Grier (2012) find that petroleum exports appear to have a negative effect on human capital in Latin-America, measured as the average years of (primary) schooling and Shao and Yang (2014) provide a theoretical rationale for the crowding-out effect of natural resource dependence on human capital. Other hypothesized adverse implications of natural resource dependence include elevated prevalence and higher mortality rates by HIV/AIDS because of a lack of effective public action (De Soysa and Gizelis, 2013).

This paper will contribute to the small but growing literature that focuses on government expenditure in resource-rich countries in light of the hypothesis that natural resource revenues differ from other government revenues (Segal, 2012). Sarr and Wick (2010) demonstrate a negative effect of natural resources on the provision of physical and social infrastructure. Bhattacharyya and Collier (2014) similarly argue that while natural resource rents provide an opportunity for resource-rich developing countries to acquire public capital crucial for economic development, there is clear evidence that natural resource rents are on the contrary associated with reduced investment in public capital. Finally, using world panel data, Cockx and Francken (2014) establish the existence of a public health spending resource curse.

3. ESTIMATION STRATEGY AND DATA

The debate on the existence of the resource curse has put forward important methodological concerns. Several authors have argued that as the research is prone to omitted variable bias it is paramount to move from cross-country to panel evidence (Collier and Goderis, 2007; Lederman and Maloney, 2008; Manzano and Rigobon, 2001; Van der Ploeg, 2008). We therefore base our analysis of public education expenditures upon a panel dataset of 140 countries² for the period of 1995 to 2009, constructed for the aim of this research. In line with Brunschweiler and Bulte (2009), Bhattacharyya and Hodler (2010), Bhattacharyya and Collier (2014) and Cockx and Francken (2014), we have subdivided the data into three five year periods; from 1995 to 1999, from 2000 to 2004 and finally from 2005 to 2009. The use of five year averages will allow us to handle annual volatility and measurement errors. The main descriptive statistics on the five year averages of the dependent and independent variables are summarized in Tables I and II respectively.

3.1. Public Education expenditures

To capture the government's commitment to education, we use the World Bank data on public spending on education as a percentage of GDP (*Public Education Expenditures*), which are derived from the UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS) who collect information annually from official national statistical authorities. Public expenditure on education consists of current and capital spending on both public and private education institutions, education administration and transfers or subsidies and includes expenditures funded by transfers from international sources to the government (UIS, 2014).

Table I : Descriptive statistics on 5 year average Public Education Expenditures as a % of GDP (source: World Bank)

	Obs.	Countries	Mean		Std. Dev.		Minimum	Maximum
				Overall	Between	Within		
World	349	140	4.4369	1.7293	1.657404	0.5435	1.0005	13.8767
Africa	106	41	4.3238	2.1895	2.1284	0.6542	1.2930	13.8767
Asia	86	37	3.9387	1.3799	1.3763	0.5019	1.0517	6.9626
Eastern Europe	33	16	4.5615	1.1098	1.0445	0.4559	3.1643	8.1404
Western Europe	52	18	5.6037	1.2036	1.1531	0.4562	3.0563	8.3851
Latin Am. + Caribbean	56	22	4.0061	1.4902	1.4141	0.5142	1.0005	7.5948
North America	5	2	4.3093	1.2238	1.5467	0.2496	2.7936	5.4331
Oceania	11	4	5.7853	0.9756	0.8173	0.6623	4.8210	8.1321

3.2. The determinants of public education spending

3.2.1. Natural resources

While large natural capital endowments in theory provide an opportunity to build human capital as the revenues can serve as a new source of finance, the World Bank (2011) notes that "natural resources may in general hinder the process of human capital creation that is the basis of long term growth". There are various explanations as to why natural resource wealth could negatively affect public education spending. A first line of argument stems from fiscal theories of governance, according to which the source of revenue is an important determinant of public expenditures. Moore (2001) refers to natural resource revenues as "unearned" state in-

^[2] Countries with populations of fewer than 150 000 individuals were excluded from the analysis. For a complete overview of countries covered in the baseline regression analysis see Appendix B.

come, to indicate that it entails little organizational and political effort in working with citizens and therefore allows for a certain degree of state autonomy and unaccountability. This disconnect could decrease the need to gain citizens' support, which consequently diminishes incentives to be responsive to citizens' needs and provide public goods such as education. Bornhorst et al. (2009) and McGuirk (2013) find that large natural resource endowments reduce domestic revenue efforts. Second, Gylfason (2001) and Shao and Yang (2014) argue that the expansion of natural resource-based industries tends to lower the demand for high-skilled labour and provides limited incentives to invest in education. Moreover, the authors state that natural resource wealth can give rise to a disregard for human capital development and myopic behavior as the long-term value of education is underestimated. Papyrakis and Gerlagh (2004) similarly argue that natural resource wealth creates a false sense of security and weakens the perceived need for growth-promoting strategies such as investment in education. Finally, the large fluctuations in commodity prices render government revenues in resource dependent countries highly volatile. Such volatility contributes to poor planning and leads to boom and bust in public spending (Lane, 2003; van der Ploeg and Poelhekke, 2009).

As export-based proxies to measure natural resource wealth have often been subject of debate (Brunschweiler and Bulte, 2008; Lederman and Maloney, 2008), we prefer to derive our indicator of natural resource dependence from the World Bank database on the Changing Wealth of Nations, which comprises a set of "comprehensive wealth" accounts, including elaborate estimates for natural capital for over 150 countries. In line with Cockx and Francken (2014), the World Bank (2011) and Gylfason (2001) we use the share of natural capital in total national wealth (*Resource Dependence*) to take into account a country's structural reliance on natural resources.

Indirect effects

In line with the previously mentioned explanations for the hypothesized adverse effect of natural resource wealth on public education spending, we specifically take into account the following proposed indirect effects of natural resource dependence.

Unaccountability

According to the fiscal sociology paradigm, the fiscal link between citizens and their government is a strong determinant of government accountability (and Lien, 1985; Bird et al., 2008; Moore, 2004; North and Weingast, 1989). As mentioned above, natural resource wealth represents an important source of unearned state income. In the presence of a sure source of income, governments can acquire a certain degree of autonomy as they no longer need to be responsive to citizens' policy preferences to induce a greater willingness to pay taxes. McGuirk (2013) in fact hypothesizes that in the presence of high natural resource rents, leaders lower the burden of taxation in order to reduce demand for accountability. Moreover, Collier (2006) finds that lower domestic tax effort in resource-rich countries diminishes the incentive for public scrutiny of the government. Ross (2003) further argues that governments that have access to large natural resource revenues tend to use them to quell dissent, again contributing to reduced accountability.

Government accountability can be expected to affect both the level and the composition of public spending. Besley and Case (1995) show that accountability has a significantly positive effect on total government expenditures per capita. Persson and Tabellini (2004) conclude that more accountable regimes are associated with more public goods and larger welfare



programs. Delavallade (2006) finds that "lack of freedom", which reflects unaccountability, distorts public spending away from social expenditure towards sectors that generate high rents.

We will study this proposed indirect effect of natural resource dependence by including the Polity IV indicator on executive constraints (*Accountability*). This measure captures institutionalized constraints on the decision-making powers of chief executives. Limitations may be imposed by any "accountability groups", which are usually legislatures in Western democracies and a strong independent judiciary in many states. This measure captures the checks and balances between various parts of the decision-making process. In addition, we consider the possibility that the effect of resource dependence is conditional upon the degree of accountability by adding an interaction term to our regression.

Electoral competition

A substantial literature investigates the hypothesis that natural resource wealth impedes democratization (Jensen and Wantchekon, 2004; Ross, 2001; Tsui, 2011). Collier and Hoeffler (2005a) conclude that natural resource rents undermine electoral competition thereby facilitating patronage politics and reducing public goods provision in the process. Mulligan and Tsui (2008) develop a theoretical model where different sources of income have different effects on the level of electoral competition. The authors demonstrate that the discovery of natural resources leads to an equilibrium outcome where the political structure is less competitive.

Electoral competition has been argued to affect the public economy and fiscal policy. Comiskey (1993) finds a robust positive relationship between electoral competition and the growth of public spending as a percentage of GDP. Zooming into the sectoral decomposition of government expenditures, Brown and Hunter (1999) and Kaufman and Segura-Ubiergo (2001) confirm that democracies in Latin America tend to spend more on education. Hecock (2006) finds that greater electoral competition leads to increased spending on primary education. Stasavage (2005) develops a game-theoretic model which suggests that the need to obtain an electoral majority may have prompted African governments to spend more on education. The author confirms this hypothesis empirically with regards to government education spending relative to GDP.

We consider the possibility of an indirect effect through electoral competition by including the Polity IV project indicator on the Competitiveness of Executive Recruitment (*Electoral Competition*). According to Gurr (1974) competitiveness refers to "the extent that prevailing modes of advancement give subordinates equal opportunities to become superordinates". The indicator equals zero if transfers of power are unregulated. Hereditary succession, designation or a combination of both corresponds to a value of 1. Dual systems or transitional arrangements, where one of the executives is chosen by hereditary succession and the other by competitive election, and competitive elections are assigned the values of 2 and 3 respectively. Similar to Mehlum et al. (2006) and Collier and Goderis (2007) and in line with Andersen and Aslaksen (2008) and Bhattacharyya and Collier (2014), who find that the resource curse effect is conditional upon electoral rule, we investigate whether the impact of natural resource wealth alters conditional on the degree of electoral competition. To this end, we study the interaction effect between natural resource dependence and electoral competition.

Structure of the economy

Resource wealth has been found to affect the structure of the economy. Large natural capital endowments have been associated with the decline of the non-natural resource sec-

tor³ (Manzano and Rigbon, 2001).

We hypothesize that the structure of the economy in turn affects public spending on education. The importance of different sectors in the economy is likely to determine the demand for skilled labor which will influence the demand for education and to the extent that public education expenditure is demand driven, subsequent spending.

Assuming that especially growth in the service industry⁴ will spur demand for education, we capture this potential indirect effect by including the value added in services as a share of GDP (*Services*). Data are derived from the World Bank and are based upon World Bank and OECD National Accounts. Services are defined according to the International Standard Industrial Classification of All Economic Activities (ISIC) and includes sale, retail, hotels and restaurants, transport, financial, real estate, government and social and personal service activities.

Volatility

Natural resource wealth can be argued to give rise to particularly volatile revenues. This volatility could in turn potentially influence public spending on education, as it complicates long term planning and has been found to induce a certain degree of myopic behaviour (Van der Ploeg and Poelhekke, 2009), which could give rise to a disregard for building human capital.

Similar to Van der Ploeg and Poelhekke (2009) and in line with Cockx and Francken (2014), we derive our measure of volatility as follows:

(1)
$$Volatility_{i\tau} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum (GDP \ pc \ growth_{it} - \overline{GDP \ pc \ growth_{l.}})^2}{N_{\tau}}}$$

Where GDP pc stands for Gross Domestic Product Per Capita, i represents a country, t time, τ the five year period and N the number of observations.

Conflict

As mentioned above, while it remains subject of debate (Basedau and Lay, 2009; Brunnschweiler and Bulte, 2009; Cotet and Tsui, 2013), it has commonly been argued that countries that rely heavily on natural resources tend to be more vulnerable to conflict (Collier and Hoeffler, 2003; Lujala, 2010; Ross, 2004; 2006). Moreover, the occurrence of conflict could alter government priorities and subsequent expenditures.

We consider this indirect effect by adding a dummy variable (*Conflict*) that equals one for every 5 year period during which conflict was reported to take place in the country according to the UCDP/PRIO armed conflict dataset. Conflict is defined here as "a contested incompatibility that concerns government and/or territory where the use of armed force between two parties, of which at least one is the government of a state, results in at least 25 battle-related

^[3] According to the Dutch Disease theory, a resource boom can give rise to an expansion of both the natural resource sector and the non-traded sector. Some authors have therefore proposed that natural resource wealth is associated with faster service sector growth. We dismiss this hypothesis however, as it is based on the assumption that the "spending effect" (increased income from the resource boom is assumed to raise aggregate demand for non-traded goods) dominates the "resource movement effect" (factors of production are shifted towards the booming resource-sector), which is unlikely to hold especially since Corden (1984) mentions that a complication that is overlooked is that the spending effect isn't necessarily positive as it will depend on the resource movement effect via income distribution. Le Billon (2001) additionally stresses that the decline of the resource-sector will be set in motion because efforts are increasingly allocated to rent-seeking activities.

^[4] Using the value added in both the manufacturing and services doesn't alter our main results. However, we find that the value added in services is a better predictor of public education expenditures.



deaths" (UCD/PRIO, 2014) Alternatively, to capture the long-term effects of conflict, we counted the years in which no conflict was reported (Peace).

3.2.2. Income

According to Wagner's law there exists a positive association between economic development and government public spending as a percentage of GDP over time. Busemeyer (2007) finds a strong positive association between income and public education spending for 21 OECD countries. Akanbi and Schoeman (2010) confirm this positive effect of GDP per capita on education spending for a sample of 15 African countries. Moreover, to the extent that income is a measure for the degree of economic development, it can be expected to influence the demand for skilled labour and therefore the demand for education. We take into account the effect of income by including the logarithm of World Bank data on GDP per capita reported in constant 2005 US Dollar, at the start of every five year period (*GDP*).

3.2.3. Aid

By mobilizing additional resources for financing education, aid can be assumed to relax macroeconomic budget constraints. Moreover, we hypothesize that as donors stress the importance of education, government priorities could be affected and shift more towards this particular sector. Another line of thought is related to concerns about fungibility of aid, in which case aid would have a depressing effect on domestic spending on education. Van de Sijpe (2012) however finds that aid leads to at most, a small displacement of domestic spending in the education sector.

To capture the effect of aid, we include five year averages of the OECD/DAC Creditor Reporting System (CRS) data on one year-lagged commitments of Official Development as a percentage of GDP (*Aid*). We assume zero-values for countries for which aid flows are not reported in the OECD/DAC database.

3.2.4. Age distribution

It can be argued that public expenditure on education is driven by demand factors, which will in turn be influenced by the demographic structure of a country (Boix, 1998). Besley and Case (2003) and Archibald and Feldman (2006) for example include controls for the proportion of the population aged 65 and above as well as aged 5 to 17 in their analysis of government spending and public education expenditures respectively. Alesina et al. (1999) find that the percentage of the population aged 65 and above has a negative effect on the share of public spending going to education. Poterba (1998) finds that a higher share of the population aged 65 years and above is associated with a significant reduction in per child educational spending. These results are confirmed by Harris et al. (2001), Rizzo (2006) and Grob and Wolter (2007).

There is however, an alternative hypothesis on the impact of an older population on education expenditures that potentially explains the mixed results. Poterba (1998) point to the possibility of intergeneration externalities that may lead older voters to support educational spending even though it does not benefit them directly. Richman and Stagner (1986) argue that a rising number of elderly may in fact exert a positive effect on education spending, to the extent that the elderly want to seek to raise the training of young workers, so that they generate a larger pool of resources from which transfers can be funded and to improve the quality of services they receive.

We control for the effect of the demographic structure of a country on public educa-

tion spending by including the proportion of the population aged 65 and above (*Pop.>65*) in our regression analysis. The data are gathered from the World Bank World Development Indicators (WDI) database.

Table II: Descriptive statistics

	Obs.	Countries	Mean		Std. Dev		Minimum	Maximum
				Overall	Between	Within		
3.2.1 Resource Dependence	349	140	26.4046	30.6927	29.0247	7.809399	0	243.9587
3.2.1.1 Accountability	326	131	5.1972	1.8813	1.8199	.5139091	1	7
3.2.1.2 Democracy	323	130	6.0351	3.7277	3.6349	.9326408	0	10
3.2.1.3 Services	337	138	55.6697	13.0609	13.2896	2.753028	21.9663	92.2521
3.2.1.4 Volatility	340	138	11.6430	21.6533	22.2531	12.95648	0.0602	187.7653
3.2.1.5 Peace	349	140	30.6363	24.1666	23.8671	4.85975	0	62
3.2.2 GDP	349	140	8.0732	1.70389	1.6658	.110585	4.8481	11.1964
3.2.3 Aid	349	140	5.1829	9.3034	11.0192	2.348509	0	103.6711
3.2.4 Pop.>65	349	140	7.6083	5.1116	5.0274	.4947741	1.0005	21.0439

Source: World Bank, Polity IC, UCD/PRIO

In sum, the baseline empirical model is of the following form:

(2) Public Education Expenditure_{it}

$$= \beta_0 + \beta_1 Resource \ Dependence_{it} + \beta_2 GDP_{it} + \beta_3 Aid_{it} + \beta_4 (Pop. > 65)_{it} + \alpha_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$

where i represents a country, t time, α the country fixed effect and ϵ the error term.



4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. The impact of natural resource dependence on public education expenditures

Before proceeding to the results, here are some remarks about the data analysis. In line with Manzano and Rigobon (2001), Murshed (2004), Collier and Goderis (2007), Haber and Menaldo (2009) Bhattacharyya and Collier (2014) and Cockx and Francken (2014), we have opted to include country-specific fixed effects, as these will effectively control for all unobservable time-invariant country characteristics. To address any remaining within-country correlation, we use cluster-robust standard deviations. We check for collinearity with the diagnostic tools developed by Belsley, Kuh and Welsch (1980) and find that the conditioning numbers are well below the suggested cut-off value of 30, indicating that there are no problems with collinearity. Finally, to identify outliers, we use the multivariate outlier detection method of Billor, Hadi and Velleman (2001). The tables below display the results of the regression applied to the entire sample as well as to the restricted sample.

Table III: Results fixed effects regressions on Public Education Expenditures

		excl. outl.		excl. outl.		excl. outl.		excl.outl.
Res. Dep.	-0.0155** (0.023)	-0.0262*** (0.001)	-0.0129* (0.066)	-0.0198*** (0.009)	-0.0151** (0.023)	-0.0129** (0.047)	-0.0155** (0.018)	-0.0121* (0.057)
GDP			0.7381** (0.022)	0.6963** (0.023)	0.7263** (0.021)	0.7670** (0.014)	0.5038 (0.177)	0.6070 (0.102)
Aid					0.0510*** (0.001)	0.0484 (0.161)	0.0513*** (0.001)	0.0489* (0.082)
Pop.>65							0.0961 (0.162)	0.0861 (0.205)
Obs.	349	328	349	337	349	338	349	344
Countries	140	132	140	137	140	137	140	138
Within R ²	0.0496	0.0777	0.0708	0.0880	0.1185	0.1007	0.1242	0.1036
Between R ²	0.0523	0.0684	0.0910	0.1445	0.0975	0.1507	0.0913	0.0968
Overall R ²	0.0465	0.0610	0.0987	0.1597	0.1140	0.1791	0.1034	0.1043

Notes:

Res. Dep. stands for Resource Dependence.

*, **, *** denote statistical significance at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively.

Reported p-values are based on cluster-robust standard errors.

The results of the baseline regression specification summarized in Table III confirm the existence of a resource curse effect on public education spending. The share of natural capital in total national wealth (*Resource Dependence*), has a significantly negative effect on public education expenditures relative to GDP. This adverse effect is robust to excluding outliers and remains highly significant even after controlling for the level of income, aid and demographic and time-invariant country characteristics. According to these estimations, keeping all else equal, a ten per cent increase in the share of natural capital in total national wealth is on average associated with a decrease in public spending on education of approximately 0.16 per cent of GDP. Keeping in mind that the world average expenditure on education was 4.44 per cent of GDP, this represents a considerable decrease in government funding for education. Results not reported in this paper⁵ further indicate that this resource curse effect on education spending is particularly strong in Africa.

^[5] Additional information can be obtained from the corresponding author upon request.

Conform to Wagner's law the regression results support the hypothesis of a positive relationship between the level of income and public spending on education. We find a highly significant, positive effect of the logarithm of GDP per capita (*GDP*) on educational spending in all but one of the regression specifications. Our results further indicate that a higher share of ODA commitments in GDP (*Aid*) is on average associated with higher public education expenditures. The effect of *Aid* however, loses significance when excluding outliers. We don't find evidence for the hypothesized role of the age structure of the population as a determinant of public education spending. This is however, in line with the results from Miller (1996) and Ladd and Murray (1999) who don't find a robust significant negative effect of the share of elderly in a fixed-effects model.

Table IV: Results fixed effects regressions on Public Education Expenditures

		excl. outl.		excl. outl.		excl. outl.		excl. outl.
Resource Dependence	-0.0193*** (0.001)	-0.0162*** (0.005)	-0.0165*** (0.004)	-0.0137** (0.015)	-0.0093 (0.150)	-0.0061 (0.312)	-0.0137** (0.025)	-0.0137** (0.025)
GDP	0.2997 (0.383)	0.3950 (0.245)	0.5156 (0.133)	0.6115* (0.074)	0.5100 (0.147)	0.6297* (0.071)	0.3458 (0.292)	0.3458 (0.292)
Aid	0.0449*** (0.001)	0.0481*** (0.002)	0.0453*** (0.003)	0.0488*** (0.004)	0.0404** (0.017)	0.0441** (0.014)	0.0360** (0.024)	0.0360** (0.024)
Pop.>65	0.0772 (0.222)	0.0676 (0.273)	0.0581 (0.339)	0.0485 (0.414)	0.0147 (0.821)	0.0101 (0.874	0.0251 (0.694)	0.0251 (0.694)
Accountability	0.2968*** (0.003)	0.2829*** (0.005)					0.2856*** (0.005)	0.2856*** (0.005)
Electoral Competition			0.4310*** (0.000)	0.3980*** (0.001)				
Services					0.0414*** (0.008)	0.0368** (0.018)	0.0346** (0.026)	0.0346** (0.026)
Obs.	326	323	323	320	337	334	316	315
Countries	131	130	130	129	138	137	129	128
Within R ²	0.2349	0.2177	0.2281	0.2086	0.1573	0.1426	0.2628	0.2628
Between R ²	0.0897	0.0905	0.1019	0.1001	0.0990	0.0971	0.0882	0.0904
Overall R ²	0.0991	0.0999	0.1162	0.1146	0.1070	0.1059	0.0963	0.0972

Notes:

Next, we assess the role of the different proposed indirect effects of natural resources; accountability, electoral competition, the structure of the economy and the related demand for skilled labour, macroeconomic volatility and the occurrence of conflict. Table IV summarizes the main regression results.

The indicator of executive constraints (*Accountability*) is significant at the one per cent level. In line with our hypothesis, the positive coefficient implies that a higher score, which corresponds to more restrictions on executive actions and greater accountability, is associated with higher government spending on education. We further note that there is some indication that the impact of resource dependence is weaker when governments are subject to more constraints and held accountable. The interaction term between *Accountability* and *Resource Dependence* is significantly positive for the entire sample (see Table A1, Appendix A).

Our results strongly suggest that the need to obtain citizens' support in elections induces higher public spending on education, as the positive coefficient for *Electoral Competition*

^{*, **, ***} denote statistical significance at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively. Reported p-values are based on cluster-robust standard errors.



is highly significant. Moreover, in line with Mehlum et al. (2006) and Collier and Goderis (2007), our results suggest that the effect of natural resource dependence alters conditional upon the level of electoral competition. The interaction effect with natural resource dependence is significantly positive for the entire sample, indicating that the resource curse effect on public education spending is weaker when there exists strong electoral competition (see Table A1, Appendix A).

We assess the role of the structure of the economy and its related demand for skilled labor in stimulating education spending by introducing a variable that captures the importance of the service industry. The positive coefficient for the value added in services as a share of GDP (*Services*) is highly significant. Hence, these results indicate that the importance of the service industry in the economy exerts a positive influence on public education expenditures. For the purpose of this paper however, it is interesting to note that by adding this indicator, the effect of natural resource dependence declines both in magnitude and significance. This suggests that part of the adverse effect of natural resource dependence on public education spending can be explained by the crowding out of more skilled-labour intensive sectors.

We don't find any evidence for the hypothesis that macroeconomic volatility hampers government spending on education. Nor do our results indicate that the occurrence of conflict adversely affects the importance attributed to education.

As *Electoral Competition* is no longer significant, when *Accountability* and *Services* are included in the regression analysis (see Table A2, Appendix A), we conclude that the results suggest that unaccountability and the crowing out of skilled-labour intensive sectors act as main transmission channels of the adverse impact of natural resource dependence on public health spending. In sum, we start from the following equation to investigate the direct and indirect effects of natural resource dependence in line with the methodology from Papyrakis and Gerlagh (2004).

(3) Public Education Expenditure_{it}

$$= \beta_0 + \beta_1 Resource \ Dependence_{it} + \beta_2 GDP_{it} + \beta_3 Aid_{it} + \beta_4 (Pop. > 65)_{it}$$

$$+ \beta_5 Accountability_{it} + \beta_6 Services_{it} + \alpha_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$

Next, we estimate the effect of natural resource dependence on the value added in services:

(4) Accountability_{it} =
$$\partial_0 + \partial_1 Resource Dependence_{it} + \theta_i + \pi_{it}$$

(5)
$$Services_{it} = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 Resource Dependence_{it} + \varphi_i + \mu_{it}$$

Where i represents a country, t time, θ_i and φ_i the country fixed effects and π_{it} and μ_{it} the error terms.

Substituting this into equation 2 yields:

(6) Public Education Expenditure_{it}

$$= \beta_0 + (\beta_5 \delta_0 + \beta_6 \gamma_0) + [\beta_1 + (\beta_5 \delta_1 + \beta_6 \gamma_1)] Resource \ Dependence_{it} + \beta_2 GDP_{it}$$

$$+ \beta_3 Electoral \ Competition_{it} + \beta_4 Aid_{it} + \beta_5 (Pop. > 65)_{it} + \beta_6 Services_{it} + \alpha_i$$

$$+ (\beta_5 \theta_i + \beta_6 \varphi_i) + \varepsilon_{it} + (\beta_5 \pi_{it} + \beta_6 \mu_{it})$$

Where $\beta_1 Resource Dependence_{it}$ is the direct effect of resource dependence on

public spending on education and $(\beta_5 \delta_1 + \beta_6 \gamma_1)$ Resource Dependence it represents the indirect effect that operates through increased unaccountability and the diminished importance of the service industry. The results suggest that the latter represents about 20 per cent of the total resource curse effect on public education spending.

4.2. Robustness checks

We conduct several tests to examine the robustness of our results. First, we include time-fixed effects in our baseline regression model (see Appendix, Table A3). By incorporating these dummy variables, we control for unobserved effects that vary over time as well as over countries. As the coefficient for resource dependence decreases neither in magnitude or significance, we find that the adverse effect of natural resource dependence is robust to controlling for time fixed effects.

Second, we want to control for the possibility that education spending depends on previous education expenditures. We therefore use the annual data for all our variables and develop a dynamic regression specification where we include the lag of education expenditures as an explanatory variable. To fully capture the dynamic nature of our 15 year panel, we are obliged to refrain from using our preferred measure of natural resource dependence, the share of natural capital in total wealth, and replace it with a similar indicator; the share of natural resource rents⁶ in GDP. Similar measures have been used by authors such as Atkinson and Hamilton (2003), Collier and Hoeffler (2005b), de Soysa and Neumayer (2007).

As traditional panel data estimators are no longer consistent, we apply the instrumental variables first difference estimator proposed by Anderson and Hsiao (1982) in line with Lederman and Maloney (2008) (see Appendix A, Table A4). We find no evidence of a dynamic relationship in public spending on education, as the lagged dependent variable is not statistically significant. Moreover, controlling for this dynamic relation doesn't alter our main results; the negative coefficient for natural resource dependence remains highly significant.

^[6] Total natural resources rents are the sum of oil rents, natural gas rents, coal rents (hard and soft), mineral rents, and forest rents.



5. EXTENSION: POINT SOURCE AND DIFFUSE NATURAL RESOURCES

It has been argued that the type of resource matters. In particular, several authors have made the distinction between point-source and diffuse natural resources based on the concentration of production and revenue patterns. Sala-i-Martin and Subramanian (2003) argue that only point-source natural resources, that are extracted from a narrow geographic or economic zone and typically generate rents that are easily appropriable, are associated with poor economic growth. Isham et al. (2005) corroborate these findings and conclude that only countries dependent on point-source natural resources are subject to "heightened economic and social divisions and weakened institutional capacity", which in turn impedes their ability to manage shocks and economic transitions. Van der Ploeg and Poelhekke (2009) demonstrate that the detrimental volatility associated with the resource curse increases only with higher shares of point-source natural resources in GDP. Bhattacharyya and Hodler (2010) in turn argue that pointsource dependence can result in high inequality, facilitates the appropriation of resource revenues and breeds corruption. Mavrotas et al. (2011) conclude that point-source rather than diffuse resource exporting countries are prone to growth failure due to institutional failure. Finally, Bhattacharyya and Collier (2014) show evidence of a resource curse effect on the provision of public capital in the case of point-source natural resources, but not in the case of agricultural and forestry resources.

To explore whether the resource curse effect on public education expenditures differs according to the type of natural resources, we create two new variables based on the World Bank database on the Changing Wealth of Nations; *Point-source Resource Dependence* and *Diffuse Resource Dependence*. Our definition of point-source natural resources coincides with the World Bank definition of subsoil assets and includes oil, natural gas, coal and minerals. Diffuse natural resources are defined in this paper as the sum of crops, pasture, and timber and non-timber forest. We measure dependence by looking at the share of both types of resources in total national wealth.

In line with Bhattacharyya and Collier (2014), we first test the hypothesis by including point-source and diffuse resource dependence separately and we finally control for both resources in the same regression. The results are summarized in Table V.

Table V: Results fixed effects regressions on Public Education Expenditures

		excl. outl.		excl. outl.		excl. outl.
Point-source Resource Dependence	-0.0274*** (0.000)	-0.0202** (0.050)			-0.0289*** (0.000)	-0.0208** (0.042)
Diffuse Resource Dependence			-0.0057 (0.471)	-0.0093 (0.277)	-0.0073 (0.329)	-0.0084 (0.287)
GDP	1.1490*** (0.005)	1.0754** (0.012)	0.8554** (0.047)	0.7940* (0.066)	1.1766*** (0.004)	1.0598** (0.015)
Aid	0.0486*** (0.005)	0.0499*** (0.006)	0.0443** (0.012)	0.0357 (0.198)	0.0492*** (0.002)	0.0512*** (0.002)
Pop.>65	0.0450 (0.503)	0.0505 (0.457)	0.0506 (0.462)	0.0446 (0.519)	0.0192 (0.769)	0.0281 (0.673)
Obs.	349	344	340	336	340	336
Countries	140	137	137	136	137	135
Within R ²	0.1350	0.1065	0.0889	0.0823	0.1543	0.1255
Between R ²	0.1033	0.0963	0.0952	0.1013	0.1120	0.1078
Overall R ²	0.1142	0.1072	0.1131	0.1199	0.1260	0.1200

We find that the effect of point-source resource dependence is highly significant and has a considerably larger impact on public education expenditures compared to the previously established effect of natural resource dependence as a whole. Keeping all else equal, a ten per cent increase in the share of point-source natural resources in total national wealth is on average associated with a decrease in public education spending of 0.27 per cent of GDP. In line with the literature, we find no evidence of a natural resource curse effect on public education spending for diffuse resource dependence. Finally, when controlling for both resources in the same regression, we find similar results. Other coefficients also seem to be plausibly estimated and are similar to earlier findings.

Notes: *, **, *** denote statistical significance at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively. Reported p-values are based on cluster-robust standard errors.



6. CONCLUSION

While education is widely perceived as a key driver of sustainable economic growth and human development and human capital development could contribute to much-needed diversification in resource-rich countries, several authors posit that "natural capital crowds out human capital" (e.g. Gylfason, 2001; Shao and Yang, 2014).

By studying whether this finding is reflected in government spending, this paper contributes to a new line of research in the resource curse literature that addresses the link between natural resource wealth and fiscal policy. In particular, we provide empirical evidence on the relationship between natural resource dependence and public education spending. Not only is this focus on expenditures rather than overarching outcomes novel in the literature, it enables us to capture the impact of natural resource wealth on government priorities as education expenditures are under direct government control.

Using a global panel dataset covering the period from 1995 to 2009, we find clear evidence of a public education spending resource curse. There is a significant adverse association between natural resource dependence and public education expenditures relative to GDP that is robust to controlling for additional covariates such as income, aid, and the age structure of the population. Our results further confirm the existence of indirect effects of natural resource dependence through a deterioration of government accountability and the crowding-out of more skilled-labour intensive sectors in the economy. We also find that government accountability and electoral competition can mitigate this mentioned resource curse effect. Furthermore, our findings indicate that the resource curse effect on the government prioritization of education mainly stems from point-source natural resources that are extracted from a narrow geographic or economic zone and give rise to easily appropriable rents.

Our results have important implications for managing natural resource wealth in developing countries, as they could achieve particularly high returns by investing resource revenues in public goods such as education. While this paper underlines the importance of institutions and government accountability, our results also raise questions on the role of the extractives industry. The oil, gas and mining industry should consider increasing funding for education through Corporate Social responsibility initiatives in this sector or other innovative channels of development finance.



7. SOURCES

Abdullah, A., Doucouliagos, H., & Manning, E. 2013. Does education reduce income inequality? A meta-regression analysis. *Journal of Economic Surveys* (In press, published online: 19 December 2013). http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/joes.12056

Africa Progress Panel. 2013. Equity in extractives. Africa Progress Panel. Africa Progress Report 2013: Geneva.

Akanbi, O. A., & Schoeman, N. J. 2010. The determinants of public expenditure and expenditure on education in particular in a selection of African countries: economics. *South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences*, 13(1), 50-61.

Alesina, A., Baqir, R. & Easterly, W. 1999. Public Goods and Ethnic Divisions. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 114 (4): 1243-1284.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/003355399556269

Andersen, J. J., & Aslaksen, S. 2008. Constitutions and the resource curse. *Journal of Development Economics*, *87*(2): 227-246.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2007.12.005

Anderson, T. W., & Hsiao, C. 1982. Formulation and estimation of dynamic models using panel data. *Journal of Econometrics*, 18(1): 47-82. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0304-4076(82)90095-1

Archibald, R. B., & Feldman, D. 2006. State higher education spending and the tax revolt. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 77(4): 618-644. http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/jhe.2006.0029

Arezki, R., & Van der Ploeg, R. 2007. Can the natural resource curse be turned into a blessing? The role of trade policies and institutions. *IMF Working Papers*, 1-34.

http://dx.doi.org/10.5089/9781451866193.001

Atkinson, G., & Hamilton, K. 2003. Savings, growth and the resource curse hypothesis. *World Development*, 31(11): 1793-1807.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2003.05.001

Auty, R. M. 1993. Sustaining Development in

Mineral Economies: The Resource Curse Thesis.

London: Routledge.

http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9780203422595

Auty, R.M. 2001. Resource abundance and economic development. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/0199275785.001.0001

Baggio, J. A., & Papyrakis, E. 2010. Ethnic diversity, property rights, and natural resources. *The Developing Economies*, *48*(4): 473-495. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1049.2010.00116.x

Baldacci, E., Guin-Siu, M. T., & Mello, L. D. 2003. More on the effectiveness of public spending on health care and education: a covariance structure model. *Journal of International Development*, 15(6): 709-725.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jid.1025

Baldacci, E., Clements, B., Gupta, S., & Cui, Q. 2008. Social spending, human capital, and growth in developing countries. *World Development*, 36(8): 1317-1341.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2007.08.003

Barro, R. J. 2001. Human capital and growth. *American Economic Review*, 91(2): 12-17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1257/aer.91.2.12

Barro, R. J., & Lee, J. W. 1994. Sources of economic growth. *Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy*, 40: 1-46.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0167-2231(94)90002-7

Basedau, M., & Lay, J. 2009. Resource curse or rentier peace? The ambiguous effects of oil wealth and oil dependence on violent conflict. *Journal of Peace Research*, 46(6): 757-776.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0022343309340500

Bassanini, A., & Scarpetta, S. 2002. Does human capital matter for growth in OECD countries? A pooled mean-group approach. *Economics Letters*, 74(3): 399-405.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0165-1765(01)00569-9

Bates, R.H., & Lien D.H.D. 1985. A note on taxation, development and representative government. *Politics Society*, 14(53): 53-70.

http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1177/003232928501400102

Behbudi, D., Mamipour, S., & Karami, A. 2010. Natural resource abundance, human capital and economic growth in the petroleum exporting countries. *Journal of Economic Development*, 35(3): 81-102.

Belsley, D.A., Kuh, E. & Welsch, R.E. 1980. Regression diagnostics: Identifying influential data and sources of collinearity. John Wiley and Sons: New Jersey.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/0471725153

Beraldo, S., Montolio, D., & Turati, G. 2009. Healthy, educated and wealthy: A primer on the impact of public and private welfare expenditures on economic growth. *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, 38(6): 946-956.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2009.06.013

Besley, T. & Case, A. 1995. Does Electoral Accountability Affect Economic Policy Choices Evidence from Gubernatorial Term Limits. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 110(3): 769-798. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2946699

Besley, T., & Case, A. 2003. Political institutions and policy choices: evidence from the United States. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 41(1): 7-73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1257/002205103321544693

Bhattacharyya, S., & Hodler, R. 2010. Natural resources, democracy and corruption. *European Economic Review*, 54(4): 608-621. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. euroecorey.2009.10.004

Bhattacharyya, S., & Collier, P. 2014. Public capital in resource rich economies: is there a curse?. *Oxford Economic Papers*, 66(1): 1-24. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oep/gps073

Billor, N., Hadi, A. S., & Velleman, P. F. 2000. BACON: blocked adaptive computationally efficient outlier nominators. *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis*, 34(3): 279-298.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0167-9473(99)00101-2

Bird, R. M., Martinez-Vazquez, J., & Torgler, B. 2008. Tax effort in developing countries and high income countries: The impact of corruption, voice

and accountability. *Economic Analysis and Policy*, 38(1): 55-71.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0313-5926(08)50006-3

Blanco, L., & Grier, R. 2012. Natural resource dependence and the accumulation of physical and human capital in Latin America. *Resources Policy*, 37(3): 281-295.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2012.01.005

Blankenau, W. F., Simpson, N. B., & Tomljanovich, M. 2007. Public education expenditures, taxation, and growth: Linking data to theory. *American Economic Review*, 97(2): 393-397. http://dx.doi.org/10.1257/aer.97.2.393

Bornhorst, F., Gupta, S., & Thornton, J. 2009. Natural resource endowments and the domestic revenue effort. *European Journal of Political Economy*, 25(4): 439-446. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpoleco.2009.01.003

Bose, N., Haque, M. E., & Osborn, D. R. 2007. Public Expenditure and Economic growth: A disaggregated analysis for developing countries*. *The Manchester School*, 75(5): 533-556. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9957.2007.01028.x

Boix, C. 1998. Political parties, growth and equality: Conservative and social democratic economic strategies in the world economy. Cambridge University Press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139174947

Bravo-Ortega, C., & De Gregorio, J. 2005. The relative richness of the poor? Natural resources, human capital, and economic growth. Natural Resources, Human Capital, and Economic Growth. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 3484.

Brown, D. S., & Hunter, W. 1999. Democracy and social spending in Latin America, 1980-92. *American Political Science Review*, 93(4): 779-790.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2586112

Brunnschweiler, C.N., & Bulte, E.H. 2008. The resource curse revisited and revised: a tale of paradoxes and red herrings. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management,



55(3): 248-264.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2007.08.004

Brunnschweiler, C.N., Bulte, E.H. 2009. Natural resources and violent conflict: Resource abundance, dependence and the onset of civil war. *Oxford Economic Papers*, 61(4):651-674. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oep/gpp024

Bulte, E., Damania, R., & Deacon, R. 2005. Resource intensity, institutions, and development. *World Development*, 33(7): 1029-1044. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2005.04.004

Busemeyer, M. R. 2007. Determinants of public education spending in 21 OECD democracies, 1980–2001. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *14*(4): 582-610.

http;//dx.doi.org/ 10.1080/13501760701314417

Cabrales, A., & Hauk, E. 2011. The Quality of Political Institutions and the Curse of Natural Resources*. *The Economic Journal*, 121(551): 58-88.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2010.02390.x

Cameron, D. R. 1978. The expansion of the public economy: A comparative analysis. *American political science review*, 72(04): 1243-1261. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1954537

Carmignani, F. 2013. Development outcomes, resource abundance, and the transmission through inequality. *Resource and Energy Economics*, 35(3): 412–428.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reseneeco.2013.04.007

Cockx, L., & Francken, N. 2014. Extending the concept of the resource curse: Natural resources and public spending on health. *Ecological Economics*, 108: 136-149.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2014.10.013

Cohen, D., & Soto, M. 2007. Growth and human capital: good data, good results. *Journal of Economic Growth*, *12*(1): 51-76.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10887-007-9011-5

Collier, P. 2006. Is aid oil? An analysis of whether Africa can absorb more aid. *World Development*

34(9): 1482-1497.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2006.01.002

Collier, P., & Hoeffler, A. 2003. Aid, Policy, and Peace: reducing the risks of civil conflict. *Defense and Peace Economics* 13 (6): 435-450. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10242690214335

Collier, P., & Hoeffler, A. 2005a. Democracy and Resource Rents. Global Poverty Research Group Working Paper GPRG-WPS-016

Collier, P., & Hoeffler, A. 2005b. Resource rents, governance, and conflict. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 49(4): 625-633. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0022002705277551

Collier, P., & Goderis, B. 2007. Commodity prices, growth, and the natural resource curse: reconciling a conundrum. *Centre for the Study of African Economies* Working Paper No.274: Oxford. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1473716

Comiskey, M. 1993. Electoral competition and the growth of public spending in 13 industrial democracies, 1950 to 1983. *Comparative Political Studies*, *26*(3): 350-374.

Conti, G., Heckman, J., & Urzua, S. 2010. The education-health gradient. *American Economic Review*, 100(2): 234-238. http://dx.doi.org/10.1257/aer.100.2.234

Corden, W. M. 1984. Booming sector and Dutch disease economics: survey and consolidation.

Oxford Economic Papers, 359-380.

Cotet, A.M., & Tsui, K.K. 2013. Oil and Conflict: What Does the Cross Country Evidence Really Show?. *American Economic Journal Macroeconomics*, 5(1): 49-80. http://dx.doi.org/10.1257/mac.5.1.49

Davis, G.A. 2013. Replicating Sachs and Warner's working papers on the resource curse. *Journal of Development Studies*, 49(12): 1615-1630. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2013.807501

Delavallade, C. 2006. Corruption and distribution of public spending in developing countries. *Journal of Economics and Finance*, 30(2): 222-239. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02761488

de Soysa, I., & Gizelis, T. I. 2013. The natural resource curse and the spread of HIV/AIDS, 1990–2008. *Social Science & Medicine*, 77: 90-96. http://dx.doi.org/ The natural resource curse and the spread of HIV/AIDS

de Soysa, I. D., & Neumayer, E. 2007. Resource wealth and the risk of civil war onset: results from a new dataset of natural resource rents, 1970–1999. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, 24(3): 201-218.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07388940701468468

Dunning, T. 2005. Resource dependence, economic performance, and political stability. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, *49*(4): 451-482.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0022002705277521

Fum, R.M., & Hodler, R. 2010. Natural resources and income inequality: the role of ethnic divisions. *Economics Letters*, 107(3): 360-363.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2010.03.008

Gleditsch, N.P., Wallensteen, P., Eriksson, M., Sollenberg, M., & Strand, H. 2002. Armed Conflict 1946–2001: A New Dataset. *Journal of Peace Research*, 39(5): 615–637.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0022343302039005007

Goderis, B., & Malone, S.W. 2011. Natural Resource Booms and Inequality: Theory and Evidence. *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 113(2): 388-417.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9442.2011.01659.x

Gregorio, J. D., & Lee, J. W. 2002. Education and income inequality: new evidence from cross-country data. *Review of Income and Wealth*, 48(3): 395-416.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1475-4991.00060

Grob, U., & Wolter, S. C. 2007. Demographic change and public education spending: a conflict between young and old?. *Education Economics*, *15*(3): 277-292.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09645290701273467

Gupta, S., Verhoeven, M., & Tiongson, E. R. 2002. The effectiveness of government spending on education and health care in developing and transition economies. *European Journal of Political Economy*, 18(4): 717-737.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0176-2680(02)00116-7

Gurr, T.R. 1974. Persistence and Change in Political Systems, 1800-1971. *American Political Science Review*, 68: 1482-504.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1959937

Gylfason, T., Herbertsson, T.T., & Zoega, G. 1999.A mixed blessing. *Macroeconomic Dynamics* 3(2): 204-225.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1365100599011049 04-225.

Gylfason, T.2001. Natural resources, education, and economic development. *European Economic Review*, 45(4-6): 847–859.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2921(01)00127-1

Gylfason, T., & Zoega, G. 2002. Inequality and economic growth: do natural resources matter?. *Center for Economic Studies CESifo* Working Paper 712 (5).

Haber, S., & Menaldo, V. 2011. Do natural resources fuel authoritarianism? A reappraisal of the resource curse. *American Political Science Review*, 105(01): 1-26.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0003055410000584

Hanushek, E. A., & Woessmann, L. 2007. The Role of Education Quality for Economic Growth. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4122. http://dx.doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-4122

Harris, A. R., Evans, W. N., & Schwab, R. M. 2001. Education spending in an aging America. *Journal of Public Economics*, *81*(3): 449-472.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0047-2727(00)00133-X

Hecock, R. D. 2006. Electoral competition, globalization, and subnational education spending in Mexico, 1999–2004. *American Journal of Political Science*, *50*(4): 950-961. http://dx.doi.org/ 0.1111/j.1540-5907.2006.00226.x

Hodler, R.2006. The curse of natural resources in fractionalized countries. *European Economic Review* 50(6): 1367-1386. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.



euroecorev.2005.05.004

Isham, J., Woolcock, M., Pritchett, L., & Busby, G. 2005. The varieties of resource experience: natural resource export structures and the political economy of economic growth. *World Bank Economic Review*, 19(2): 141-174. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/wber/lhi010

Jensen, N., & Wantchekon, L. 2004. Resource Wealth and Political Regimes in Africa. Comparative *Political Studies*, 37 (7): 816–841. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0010414004266867

Jung, H. S., & Thorbecke, E. 2003. The impact of public education expenditure on human capital, growth, and poverty in Tanzania and Zambia: a general equilibrium approach. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, 25(8): 701-725.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0161-8938(03)00060-7

Kaufman, R. R., & Segura-Ubiergo, A. 2001. Globalization, domestic politics, and social spending in Latin America: a time-series crosssection analysis, 1973–97. *World Politics*, 53(04): 553-587.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0011-52582001000300001

Kolstad, I., & Wiig, A. 2009. It's the rents, stupid! The political economy of the resource curse. Energy Policy, 37(12): 5317-5325. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2009.07.055

Ladd, H. F., & Murray, S. E. 2001. Intergenerational conflict reconsidered: County demographic structure and the demand for public education. *Economics of Education Review*, *20*(4): 343-357.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7757(00)00058-3

Lane, P. R. 2003. The cyclical behaviour of fiscal policy: evidence from the OECD. *Journal of Public Economics*, 87(12): 2661-2675.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0047-2727(02)00075-0

Le Billon, P. 2001. The political ecology of war: natural resources and armed conflicts. *Political Geography*, 20(5), 561-584.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0962-6298(01)00015-4 Leite, C. A., & Weidmann, J. 1999. Does mother nature corrupt? Natural resources, corruption, and economic growth. *IMF Working Paper*, (99/85).

Lederman, D., & Maloney, W.F. 2007. Trade structure and growth. In *Natural resources neither curse nor destiny*. Lederman, D., Maloney, W.F. (Eds). World Bank Publications. pp. 15-40.

Lederman, D., & Maloney, W.F. 2008. In search of the missing resource curse. *Economia*, 9(1): 1-57. http://dx.doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-4766

Lujala, P. 2010. The spoils of nature: Armed civil conflict and rebel access to natural resources. *Journal of Peace Research*, 47(1), 15-28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0022343309350015

Mankiw, N. G., Romer, D., & Weil, D. N. 1992. A contribution to the empirics of economic growth. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 107(2):407-437. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2118477

Manzano, O., & Rigobon, R. 2001. Resource curse or debt overhang?. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. w8390.

Marshall, M.G., Gurr, T., Jaggers, K. 2013. Political Regime Characteristics and Transitions, 1800-2012: Dataset Users' Manual. Center for Systemic Peace.

Mavrotas, G., Murshed, S. M., & Torres, S. 2011. Natural resource dependence and economic performance in the 1970–2000 period. Review of Development Economics, 15(1), 124-138. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9361.2010.00597.x

McGuirk, E. F. 2013. The illusory leader: natural resources, taxation and accountability. *Public Choice*, 154(3-4): 285-313. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11127-011-9820-0

Mehlum, J., Moene, K., & Torvik, R. 2006. Institutions and the resource curse. *The Economic Journal* 116(508): 1-20. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2006.01045.x

Miller, C. 1996. Demographics and spending for public education: a test of interest group influence. *Economics of Education Review*, 15(2): 175-185. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0272-7757(95)00030-5

Moore, M. 2001. Political underdevelopment: what causes 'bad governance'. *Public Management Review*, 3(3): 385-418. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14616670110050020

Moore, M. 2004. Revenues, state formation, and the quality of governance in developing countries. International Political Science Review 25(3): 297-319.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0192512104043018

Mulligan, C. B., & Tsui, K. K. 2008. Political entry, public policies, and the economy. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. w13830.

Murshed, S. M. 2004. When does natural resource abundance lead to a resource curse? International Institute for Environment and Development Environmental Economics Programme Discussion Paper 04-01.

North, D. C., & Weingast, B. R. 1989. Constitutions and commitment: the evolution of institutions governing public choice in seventeenth-century England. *The Journal of Economic History* 49(04): 803-832.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0022050700009451

Papyrakis, E., & Gerlagh, R. 2004. The resource curse hypothesis and its transmission channels. *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 32(1): 181-193. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jce.2003.11.002

Poterba, J. M. 1998. Demographic change, intergenerational linkages, and public education. *American Economic Review*, 88(2): 315-320.

Richman, H.A. & Stagner, M. W. 1986. Children: Treasured Resource or Forgotten Minority?. In *Our aging society: Paradox and* promise. Pifer, A. & Bronte, L. (Eds.). New York: Norton, 1986, pp.161-79.

Rizzo, M. J. 2006. State preferences for higher education spending: A panel data analysis, 1977-2001. What's happening to public higher education, 3-36.

Robinson, J. A., Torvik, R., & Verdier, T. 2006. Political foundations of the resource curse. *Journal of development Economics*, 79(2): 447-468. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2006.01.008

Ross, M. L. 2001. Does Oil Hinder Democracy? *World Politics*, 53 (3): 325–361. http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/wp.2001.0011

Ross, M.L. 2003. The Natural Resource Curse: How Wealth Can Make You Poor. In *Natural Resources and Violent Conflict: Options and Actions*. Bannon, I. & Collier, P. (Eds.). World Bank, Washington D.C.

Ross, M. L. 2004. What do we know about natural resources and civil war?. *Journal of Peace Research*, 41(3): 337-356.

Ross, M. L. 2006. A closer look at oil, diamonds, and civil war. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 9: 265-300.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev. polisci.9.081304.161338

Sachs, J.D., & Warner, A.M. 1995. Natural resource abundance and economic growth. *National Bureau of Economic Research* Working Paper No. 5398.

Sachs, J. D., & Warner, A. M. 1997. Sources of slow growth in African economies. *Journal of African economies*, *6*(3): 335-376.

Sachs, J. D., & Warner, A. M. 2001. The curse of natural resources. *European Economic Review*, 45(4): 827-838.

Sala-i-Martin, X., & Subramanian, A.
2003. Addressing the natural resource curse:
An illustration from Nigeria. National Bureau of
Economic Research Working Paper No. w9804

Sarr, M., & Wick, K. 2010. Resources, conflict and development choices: public good provision in resource rich economies. *Economics of Governance*, 11(2): 183-205.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10101-010-0075-x

Seetanah, B. 2009. The economic importance of education: Evidence from Africa using dynamic panel data analysis. *Journal of Applied Economics*, 12(1): 137-157.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1514-0326(09)60009-X

Segal, P. 2012. How to spend it: Resource wealth and the distribution of resource rents. *Energy Policy*, 51: 340-348.



http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.08.029

Shao, S., & Yang, L. 2014. Natural resource dependence, human capital accumulation, and economic growth: A combined explanation for the resource curse and the resource blessing. Energy Policy, 74: 632-642.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2014.07.007

Stasavage, D. 2005. Democracy and education spending in Africa. *American Journal of Political Science*, 49(2), 343-358.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.0092-5853.2005.00127.x

Stijns, J. P.C. 2006. Natural resource abundance and human capital accumulation. *World Development*, 34(6): 1060-1083. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2005.11.005

Tanzi, V., & Chu, K. 1998. Income Distribution and High Quality Growth. MIT Press. Cambridge.

Torvik, R. 2002. Natural resources, rent seeking and welfare. *Journal of Development Economics*, 67(2): 455-470.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3878(01)00195-X

Tsui, K. K. 2011. More oil, less democracy: Evidence from worldwide crude oil discoveries*. *The Economic Journal*, 121(551): 89-115. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2009.02327.x

(UIS) UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2014. Glossary: Government expenditure on education as % of GDP. Available at < http://glossary.uis. unesco.org/glossary/en/home>

(UCD/PRIO) Uppsala Conflict Data Programme/ International Peace Research Institute Oslo. 2014 UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset Codebook. Available at http://www.pcr.uu.se/digitalAssets/124/124920_1codebook_ucdp_prio-armed-conflict-dataset-v4_2014a.pdf>

Van der Ploeg, F. 2008. Challenges and opportunities for resource rich economies.

Oxford Centre for the Analysis of Resource Rich Economies Research Paper No. 2008-05.

Van der Ploeg, F., & Poelhekke, S. 2009. Volatility and the resource curse. *Oxford Economic Papers*,

61(4): 727-760.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oep/gpp027

Van der Ploeg, & F. Poelhekke, S. 2011. Natural resources: Curse or blessing?. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 49(2): 366-420.

Van de Sijpe, N. 2012. Is foreign aid fungible? Evidence from the education and health sectors. *The World Bank Economic Review*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/wber/lhs023

Van Wijnbergen, S. 1984. The Dutch Disease': a disease after all?. *The Economic Journal*, 94(373): 41-55.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2232214

World Bank. 2010. Changing Wealth of Nations. Available at http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/wealth-of-nations

World Bank. 2011. The Changing Wealth of Nations: Measuring Sustainable Development in the New Millennium. World Bank, Washington D.C.

World Bank. 2015. World Development Indicators. Available at; http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/world-development-indicators



APPENDIX A: ADDITIONAL REGRESSION RESULTS

TableA1: Results fixed effects regressions on Public Education Expenditures (including interaction effects)

		excl. outl.		excl.outl.
Resource Dependence	-0.0334*** (0.000)	-0.0311** (0.021)	-0.0230*** (0.000)	-0.0244** (0.024)
GDP	0.4569	0.4868 (0.151)	0.6853** (0.046)	0.7102** (0.041)
	(0.176)			
Aid	0.0408** (0.014)	0.0433**	0.0466*** (0.007)	0.0476 (0.009)
		(0.018)		
Pop.>65	0.0689 (0.252)	0.0650 (0.275)	0.0458 (0.423)	0.0436 (0.441)
Accountability	0.1806 (0.192)	0.1863 (0.222)		
Electoral Competition			0.2472	0.2266
			(0.146)	(0.300)
Res.Dep.*Acc.	0.0032**	0.0029		
	(0.045)	(0.219)		
Res.Dep.*Electoral Competition			0.0044** (0.013)	0.0050 (0.215)
Obs.		322	323	320
Countries	131	129	130	129
Within R ²	0.2523	0.2274	0.2447	0.2172
Between R ²	0.0921	0.0957	0.1075	0.1034
Overall R ²	0.1035	0.1029	0.1248	0.1197
Accountability Electoral Competition Res.Dep.*Acc. Res.Dep.*Electoral Competition Obs. Countries Within R ² Between R ²	(0.252) 0.1806 (0.192) 0.0032** (0.045) 326 131 0.2523 0.0921	(0.275) 0.1863 (0.222) 0.0029 (0.219) 322 129 0.2274 0.0957	0.2472 (0.146) 0.0044** (0.013) 323 130 0.2447 0.1075	(0.441) 0.2266 (0.300) 0.0050 (0.215) 320 129 0.2172 0.1034

Notes:

, ***, * denote statistical significance at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively.

Reported p-values are based on cluster-robust standard errors.

Res. Dep and Elect. Comp. stand for Resource Dependence and Electoral Competition respectively.

TableA2: Results fixed effects regressions on Public Education Expenditures

		excl.outl.		excl. outl.		excl.outl.		excl.outl.
Resource Dependence	-0.0133	-0.0133** (0.029)	-0.0123*** (0.005)	-0.0091* (0.064)	-0.0156** (0.019)	-0.0112* (0.055)	-0.0154** (0.020)	-0.0111* (0.057)
- op	(0.029)	(0.0=0)	(0.000)	(=====,	(0.000)	(====)	(0.0=0)	()
GDP	0.5316* (0.097)	0.5316* (0.097)	0.3249*** (0.008)	0.3863*** (0.002)	0.5132 (0.175)	0.6478* (0.086)	0.4739 (0.188)	0.5798 (0.109)
Aid	0.0352** (0.031)	0.0352** (0.031)	0.0368*** (0.006)	0.0546*** (0.000)	0.0508*** (0.001)	0.0540*** (0.001)	0.0507** (0.001)	0.0537*** (0.001)
Pop.>65	0.0102 (0.867)	0.0102 (0.867)	0.0125 (0.723)	0.0171 (0.630)	0.0954 (0.167)	0.0825 (0.226)	0.0909 (0.202)	0.0783 (0.266)
Accountability	0.2715* (0.066)	0.2715* (0.066)						
Electoral Competition	0.0593 (0.726)	0.0593 (0.726)						
Services	0.0317** (0.046)	0.0317** (0.046)						
Volatility			-0.0018 (0.395)	-0.0023 (0.280)				
Conflict					-0.1402 (0.464)	-0.2504 (0.166)		
Peace							0.0028 (0.645)	0.0036 (0.548)
Obs.	311	310	340	336	348	345	349	346
Countries	127	126	138	136	140	139	140	139
Within R ²	0.2792	0.2792	0.1269	0.1121	0.1263	0.1216	0.1247	0.1160
Between R ²	0.1001	0.1013	0.0920	0.1051	0.0949	0.0985	0.0966	0.1002
Overall R ²	0.1113	0.1117	0.1129	0.1231	0.1071	0.1102	0.1076	0.1098

Notes:

*, ***, **** denote statistical significance at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively.

Reported p-values are based on cluster-robust standard errors.

Res. Dep and Elect. Comp. stand for Resource Dependence and Electoral Competition respectively.

Table A3: Results fixed effects regressions on Public Education Expenditures incl. time fixed effects

		excl. outl.
Resource Dependence	-0.0162** (0.016)	-0.0134** (0.042)
GDP	0.4089 (0.427)	0.3805 (0.453)
Aid	0.0464*** (0.003)	0.0362 (0.224)
Pop.>65	0.0815 (0.317)	0.0619 (0.445)
Time fixed effects		
2000-2004	0.1368 (0.205)	0.1688 (0.132)
2005-2009	0.0755 (0.710)	0.1324 (0.501)
Obs.	349	344
Countries	140	138
Within R ²	0.1321	0.1139
Between R ²	0.0907	0.0973
Overall R ²	0.1029	0.1039

Notes: *, **, *** denote statistical significance at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively. Reported p-values are based on cluster-robust standard errors.

Table A4: Results first difference instrumental variables regressions on **Public Education Expenditures**

	-	
		excl. outl.
Public Education Expenditures t-1	0.1313	0.1378
	(0.571)	(0.552)
Resource Dependence	-0.0387***	-0.0387***
Resource Dependence	(0.000)	(0.000)
CDD	• •	
GDP	-1.8454***	-1.8561***
	(0.001)	(0.001)
Aid	0.0004	0.0010
	(0.958)	(0.887)
Pop.>65	0.1694	0.1668
•	(0.293)	(0.302)
	, ,	, ,
Obs.	698	697
Countries	124	123
Within R ²	0.0251	0.0268
Between R ²	0.5531	0.5518
Overall R ²	0.0257	0.0243

Notes: *, **, *** denote statistical significance at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively. Reported p-values are based on cluster-robust standard errors.

Vietnam

Zambia

APPENDIX B: LIST OF COUNTRIES

Albania France Moldova Uruguay
Algeria Gabon Mongolia Vanuatu
Angola Gambia, The Morocco Venezuela, RB

Argentina Georgia Mozambique Armenia Germany Namibia Australia Ghana Nepal

Austria Greece Netherlands Azerbaijan Guatemala New Zealand Guinea **Bahrain** Nicaragua Bangladesh Guinea-Bissau Niger Belarus Guyana Norway Belgium Honduras Oman **Belize** Hong Kong SAR, China Pakistan Benin Panama Hungary Bhutan Iceland Peru Bolivia India **Philippines**

Bolivia India Philippine
Botswana Indonesia Poland
Brazil Iran, Islamic Rep. Portugal
Brunei Darussalam Ireland Romania

Bulgaria Israel Russian Federation

Burkina Faso Italy Rwanda Burundi Jamaica Saudi Arabia Cambodia Japan Senegal Cameroon Jordan Sierra Leone Canada Singapore Kenya Central African Republic Slovak Republic Korea, Rep. Chad Kuwait South Africa

Chile Kyrgyz Republic Spain China Lao PDR Sri Lanka Colombia Latvia St. Lucia Comoros Lesotho Swaziland Congo, Rep. Liberia Sweden Costa Rica Lithuania Switzerland

Cote d'Ivoire Luxembourg Syrian Arab Republic

Croatia Macao SAR, China Tajikistan
Cyprus Macedonia, FYR Thailand
Czech Republic Madagascar Togo

Denmark Malawi Trinidad and Tobago

Dominican RepublicMalaysiaTunisiaEcuadorMaldivesTurkeyEgypt, Arab Rep.MaliUgandaEl SalvadorMaltaUkraine

EthiopiaMauritaniaUnited Arab EmiratesFijiMauritiusUnited KingdomFinlandMexicoUnited States

